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R. HARRINGTON JULY 1882

Come . . . walk with us.

Welcome to the real Whitehorse . . . the city of people and places
and a golden past . . . a city of memories which has much to offer
the visitor who is willing to get off the bus, out of the car and onto
the feet for an hour or two of pure history.

Walk with the young bank clerk who composed his first verses stroll-
ing along the Yukon river bank in the evening. You will find a
bronze reminder of Robert W. Service downtown today, and in the
Old Log Church Museum you can see his handwritten minutes of
the Vestry meetings there.

Walk with Bishop Stringer, Bishop Bompas . . . walk with George
and Martha Louise Black, whose retirement home on First Avenue
is gone, but whose memory is kept green in the library and archives,

street names and mountains. Walk with the Taylors and the Drurys,
whose families still live here unto the third and fourth generation.

Walk with the Klondikers and the Highwaymen who broke trail to
the gold creeks and the Alaska Highway of today.

Walk along the old tramline from Canyon City, past outlines of log
cabins and campfires, listen to the voices of the rivermen and native
guides and hunters . . . it’s all there waiting, for you.

We congratulate the people who have put this walking guide in your
hands; Bill MacBride would have been pleased too!

Flo Whyard
Mayor



History of Whitehorse

Euro/ American settlement of the Whitehorse area began in
1897. That summer, Norman Macauley began construction of
a wooden tramway on the east bank of the Yukon River to
enable stampeders to portage around Miles Canyon and the
White Horse Rapids. By 1898, 25,000 people had entered
the territory hoping to make a fortune in the Klondike. During
the first few days of ice breakup in that year, 150 boats were
wrecked and five men were drowned at Miles Canyon. A
small town called White Horse City sprang up at the northern
terminus of the Canyon and White Horse Rapids Tramway
Co. The townsite provided a place for miners and speculators
to rest and to make preparations for the final stretch to Dawson
City. It was unceremoniously dubbed, “the place where peo-
ple stopped to wash their socks.”

In July 1900, the White Pass and Yukon Route Railway from
Skagway, Alaska to White Horse City was completed. Its
terminus however was on the west side of the river. The po-
tential for development of a permanent settlement at the rail-
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Whitehorse 1900.
A virtual tent-
town.




road terminus was immediately apparent. During the winter of
1899 residents of White Horse City moved across the river to
the new settlement of ‘‘Closeleigh’’ at the railhead. ‘‘Close-
leigh”” was named after the Close brothers of London, Eng-
land who were major stockholders of the White Pass and

Yukon Railway. The completion of the railroad forced Mac- .

auley’s tramline to close down after 2!/ years of operation.
The rail terminus was referred to as Closeleigh for a brief per-
iod until the government announced that White Horse City
was already established at the rail terminus in the area, and so
the new townsite would also be called White Horse.

Until WWII, the existence of Whitehorse depended on deci-
sions made by the White Pass and Yukon Route Corporation.
Their rail division was the only system for moving large quan-
tities of goods and people into the territory and Whitehorse
was its major operational base. The settlement was a company
town. The White Pass river division, the British Yukon Nav-
igation Company or B.Y.N. Co., was formed in 1900. It had
more than 20 sternwheelers operating during its peak years and
controlled transportation from Whitehorse to Dawson. The
Royal Mail Service, which carried mail, freight and passeng-
ers on the Overland Trail from Whitehorse to Dawson until
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Photo at left
shows White-
horse in 1901, a
bustling trans-
portation hub.
Below left, Front
St. looking south
from Steele St.
in April the
same year.
Below right,
sternwheelers
“Whitehorse”
and “Casca” at
W.P. & Y.R.
wharf in 1920.




1921, was purchased by the B.Y.N. Co. in 1901. It was a
scheduled horse-drawn stage service that operated during fall,
winter and spring when the Yukon River was frozen. The
W.P. & Y.R. Corporation provided jobs and attracted other
commercial venturers to the community. New settlers who re-

quired land had to purchase or lease it from the British Yukon
Land Co. (B.Y.L. Co.), another subsidiary company created

by the Corporation in 1900. It was not until the 1950s that
ownership of the streets was transferred from the B.Y.L. Co.
to the City administration.

Whitehorse outlived the Goldrush due to the discovery and
development of copper mines in the vicinity from 1900 to
1915. At this time the community began to supply goods and

transportation to the silver, lead and zinc mines in the Mayo
area. The tourist industry was also beginning to be explored

and cultivated by the W.P. & Y.R.

WWII brought an economic revival to the city. As the trans-
portation hub of the Yukon, Whitehorse was the logical site
for the American Army to locate their major base during the
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construction of the Alaska (Alcan) Highway. Almost over-
night, 20,000 airforce and military personnel, the men who
worked for the Public Roads Administration and its subcon-
tractors descended on the 350 residents of Whitehorse. By
1943, every street in Whitehorse was torn up for sewer work
making much of the city’s water unsafe to drink. Housing was
so scarce that servicemen were forced to sleep in shifts in the
local hotels, or on the riverboats that tied up overnight until
tents and barracks were put up.

The construction of the Canol Pipeline from Norman Wells to
Whitehorse in 1942 caused another boom in Whitehorse.

The capital of the Yukon was moved to Whitehorse from
Dawson City in 1953. This move, in combination with the
worldwide demand for northern mineral resources, allowed
Whitehorse to bounce back from the brief period of economic
inactivity after the completion of the Alaska Highway and the
abandonment of the Canol Pipeline Project. Prosperous times
continued until the recent slump in world metal prices caused
the Yukon mining industry to decline. At present, the mining
industry is tenuous, while the chief means of employment in
Whitehorse is the civil service and the rapidly growing tourism
industry.
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Architecture in Whitehorse

The various types of architecture represented by Whitehorse
heritage buildings reflect different stages of development in the
city’s society.

The first Euro/ Americans,who arrived in the Yukon during
the 1898 Goldrush, brought with them a get-rich-quick atti-
tude. They wanted to go where the money was, make a for-
tune as quickly as possible and go home. This philosophy, ad-
ded to the reality of having to hike the Chilkoot Pass carrying
the requisite ton of goods, made canvas tents the most practical
shelter.

The original White Horse City on the east bank of the
Yukon River was viewed as a temporary stopping-place on the
way to Dawson City. As a result, this transient community
was little more than a tent town. Permanent buildings were few
and were generally of crude log construction. Even when the
roots of a settlement were beginning to take hold, transporta-
tion problems limited architecture to what could be fashioned
with canvas and log.

Y.A./MACBRIDE MUSEUM COLL.

Canadian Bank of
Commerce tent at
Second Ave. and |
Main St. 1900.




With the completion of the White Pass and Yukon Railway,
Whitehorse residents realized that a permanent transportation
and distribution centre for the Yukon was growing in their
midst. The railroad made it possible to acquire badly-needed
building supplies. What happened next was a building phen-
omenon peculiar to Whitehorse. People started to put frame
additions on their log homes. Those who still lived in tents
framed them in with lumber, often leaving the canvas intact for
insulation. As families grew and incomes increased, the
owners continued to build additions to their homes. What
began as a temporary log cabin or tent grew into a family
homestead. This then is the architectural history of White-
horse: tent, log and frame put together to create one building.
The McKinnon House is a prime example of this phenomen-
on. It began as a humble cabin and was transformed into what
was regarded as the ‘‘showplace of Whitehorse”” in its time.

“More finished”” and quite formal log buildings were con-
structed in the new townsite in 1900. The appeal of these
buildings lies in their symmetry and simple but sturdy forms
which were dictated by the nature of the materials used. Note
the Log Telegraph Office on First Avenue (1900). It possesses
as much of a sense of order and elegance as could be imparted
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Office built
1900. Northern
Commercial
building on fire
in background.
1940s photo.




to it. This building uses the French/Swedish ““log on log”
style of construction with its fairly sophisticated vertical corner
logs rather than the cruder overlapping technique of saddle
notch corners.

The first frame houses were !+ as soon as dimensional lum-
ber became available and affc  ble. They are particularly in-
teresting for their small scale and simple charm. Unpretentious
in every way, these buildings represent the first statement of
permanent settlement for early Whitehorse residents. By 1905
houses were being built a little larger, perhaps with greater
care and certainly with more flair. About 1908, a Victorian
atmosphere emerged within the established business commun-
ity. Elaborate casings were added to doors and windows and
fretted brackets to balcony and porch posts. Roofs were
decorated and some stained glass was used. Two fine example
of this are the Scott and Captain Martin houses.

During the 1930s and 1940s, logs became fashionable again.
Their aesthetic appeal is shown in both the T.C. Richards
Building and in the Taylor House on Main Street.

During the early 1950s the Canadian Army built Camp Tak-
hini for the officers and men of the Northwest Highways

System. This was a turning point in Whitehorse housing
standards. It was the first southern style settlement in the
North, complete with semi-detached dwellings, well-tended
lawns, painted stones and fully serviced with sewers, water
and power. People were neatly ranked by size of dwelling and
senior staff had separate houses. It was a glimpse of a new kind
of life, and one that was immediately confirmed when the

R.C.AF. and C.N. Telecommunications built their staff

quarters.

The history of architecture in Whitehorse is not one of discov-
ery or of innovation. It is rather an illustration of what an isolat-
ed community can do when trying to maintain a lifestyle com-
parable to the one they left behind.

Whitehorse Post Office - Exterior of Post Of-
fice on southwest corner of First Avenue and
Elliot Street. Photo taken at midnight June
1911.
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MacBride Museum

The MacBride Museum, built in 1967, was named after
William D. MacBride as a tribute to his founding of the
Yukon Historical Society in 1950. MacBride was the driving
force in establishing the citys first museum which was opened
in 1952 in the Log Telegraph Office. Due largely to his in-
terest and hard work, the museum became a prominent White-
horse attraction.

Born in Montana, Bill MacBride came to the Yukon to work
for the White Pass and Yukon Route. He was not the first of
his family to travel north. His father headed for the Klondike
over the Stikine Trail in 1897 and his uncle was the first con-
ductor on the White Pass railway. Soon after MacBride arriv-
ed in the Yukon, he began collecting old books and historical
records of the North. He also wrote most of the historical
advertising material for White Pass.

The museum features an extensive Yukon wildlife display,
early native handicraft and artifact exhibits, Yukon memora-
bilia and many historical photographs.
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Photo at left shows museum founder W.D. MacBride in front of Royal
Mail Stage #9 in 1956. At right is MacBride Museum grounds in 1983.




Log Telegraph Office

Constructed in 1900, this log building was the second
telegraph office in Whitehorse.

The first telegraph office was built in 1899 across the river in
the first townsite of White Horse City. It was a 40’ square
structure built by ].C. Tache, superintendent in charge of river
improvements and other public engineering for the telegraph
construction. When the town moved to its present site in
1900, the original office remained vacant in the vicinity of the
Whitehorse General Hospital until it was torn down in 1945.
In 1901, when the Mounties discovered a few cases of
smallpox, the office was used as a quarantine area. Its location
made it ideal for patients with infectious diseases and the ‘‘Pest
House,” as it came to be known, was refurbished to be used
as a hospital.

The second telegraph office was built on its present site when
the town moved across the river. It was used as a residence for
various telegraph operators until 1927. The Yukon Historical
Society leased it for use as a museum from 1952-66.

Y.H.M.AJSTUDIO 2 PHOTO 1979

Built on this site
in 1900, the old
Telegraph Office
has been restored.
The Tutshi sign is
an original from
the Sternwheeler
“Tutshi” beached

at Carcross.




Sam McGee’s Cabin

“There are strange things done
in the midnight sun

By the men who moil for gold;
The Arctic trails have their
secret tales

That would make your blood run
cold;

The Northern Lights have seen
queer sights,

But the queerest they ever did
see

Was that night on the marge of
Lake Lebarge

I cremated Sam McGee’™

* From “The Cremation of Sam
McGee,” Songs of a Sourdough, by
Robert Service

Y.AJR. HARRINGTON PHOTO

The poetic license of Robert Service made Sam McGee’s
name famous as a prospector from Tennessee who could never
get warm in the Yukon. However, the real Sam McGee came
from Ontario via San Francisco to the Yukon in 1898. The
following year he settled into this rustic log cabin. Known as a
“roadhouse king,”” McGee operated lodgings at Canyon
Creek, 80 miles north of Whitehorse. He was also a miner, a
teamster, a sawmill operator and a leading road builder.
McGee left the Yukon for British Columbia in 1909 and only
returned for a brief prospecting trip in 1938.

The Imperial Order of the Daughters of the Empire
(I.O.D.E.) acquired and renovated his cabin in 1940. In 1954
they gave it to the Yukon Historical Society and the cabin was
moved to its present site on the MacBride Museum grounds.

Built in 1899, Sam McGee’s cabin typical
of early Whitehorse buildings. Rk A



Taylor and Drury Building

The part of this building now housing the Horwood Mall was
constructed by the merchandising firm of Whitney and Pedlar
about 1905. P. Whitney and W.C. Pedlar were partners in
Juneau in 1895, later moving to Dyea, Bennett, and finally to
Whitehorse. In 1900 they opened a general store on the corner
of First Avenue and Lambert Street.

In 1912, Whitney and Pedlar amalgamated with their chief
competitor, Taylor and Drury. Isaac Taylor came to the
Yukon in 1898. Pooling his resources with another English-
man, W.S. Drury, they bypassed Dawson City for the new
gold strike city of Atlin, B.C. With $200 and a 12’ by 14’
tent, the two men quickly set up business and turned a profit
by buying outfits from disillusioned gold seekers and selling
them to new arrivals. When the railroad reached Bennett in
July 1899, they moved the shop from Atlin to Bennett.
Drury, formerly a shoemaker, made sails for boats going to
Dawson City. Then, in July 1900, they caught the first train
to Whitehorse and set up their business in a tent on First Ave-
nue. In less than a year, they had expanded their business to
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Taylor and Drury
towhorse delivery
wagons c1910.
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